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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: This hearing of

          3  the Finance Committee is now in session.  My name is

          4  David Weprin, I am Chair of the Finance Committee.

          5  I apologize for the delay, but we have a Stated

          6  Meeting today, and there was a Steering Committee

          7  going on where myself and a number of our members

          8  were participating in involving some business of the

          9  day, so I apologize for that.

         10                 Today we are hearing two local laws

         11  concerning Business Improvement Districts, because

         12  the BID laws require that most hearings on local

         13  laws changing the governing documents of BIDs only

         14  be conducted after a hearing date is publicly set in

         15  August, we set today as the public hearing date to

         16  take up these issues.

         17                 First, we have Intro. No. 249, which

         18  would expand the MetroTech Area Business Improvement

         19  District in Brooklyn. Today, we will hear all those

         20  who may be affected by the extension of the BID, who

         21  wish to speak.  And then we will adjourn until the

         22  statutory objection period has run, before we

         23  actually act on the local law.  At the end of that

         24  period, we must be prepared to answer the following

         25  four questions in the affirmative, or we cannot
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          2  approve the extension.

          3                 1.  Were all notices of hearing for

          4  all hearings required to be held published and

          5  mailed as required by law and otherwise sufficient?

          6                 2.  Does all the real property within

          7  the proposed extended District's boundaries benefit

          8  from the extension of the District, except as

          9  otherwise provided by the law?

         10                 3.  Is all real property benefited by

         11  the extension included within the proposed extended

         12  district?

         13                 4.  Is the extension of the district

         14  in the best interest of the public?

         15                 If we can answer these four questions

         16  affirmatively, and the requisite number of property

         17  owners do not object to the extension during the

         18  next 30 days, then the Committee can adopt the

         19  extension.

         20                 Today, we will also consider another

         21  local law, which would authorize budget increases to

         22  several BIDs.  Most of the City BIDs have not had

         23  increases in the maximum amount they are allowed to

         24  spend in several years, and any increases must be

         25  approved by local law.  The statute authorizing the
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          2  establishments of BIDs and amendments to the plans

          3  by which they operate, provides that this local law

          4  can be adopted if the Council makes the following

          5  findings:

          6                 1.  That it is in the public's

          7  interest to authorize the increases.

          8                 2.  That the tax and debt limit set

          9  out in the BID laws will not be exceeded.

         10                 3.  That notice of proposed budget

         11  increases was accomplished in accordance with the

         12  law.

         13                 In addition, although the BID law

         14  only requires notice of this action by publication,

         15  we informed DBS at the hearing in August that we

         16  would like to see notices mailed to all property

         17  owners in the 20 BIDs of the proposed budget

         18  increases and the date of today's hearing.

         19                 So today, we will only consider

         20  granting the increases to those BIDs that have

         21  certified to DBS that they have mailed the agreed

         22  upon notice to all property owners in the district.

         23  Because DBS has informed us that the Brighten Beach

         24  BID has not certified that they have mailed the

         25  notices of the proposed increases to property
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          2  owners, and did not even publish the required

          3  notice, we will be considering an amended version of

          4  the legislation that does not contain the proposed

          5  increase for that BID.

          6                 I would first like to call upon DBS.

          7  Okay, and I am going to call upon Assemblyman

          8  Richard Gottfried, first, as courtesy to a fellow

          9  public official, I know he has been waiting here

         10  since ten o'clock, because I was here earlier before

         11  the Steering Committee and I saw he was here.

         12                 I am going to ask them to address the

         13  issues of notice and whether the proposed increases

         14  are in compliance with the legal tax and debt

         15  limits.  I would then like them to briefly address

         16  the MetroTech expansion, which we will not be voting

         17  on today.

         18                 I am just going to introduce my

         19  colleagues who have joined us.  On the far left, we

         20  have Council Member Helen Sears from Queens, we have

         21  Council Member Bill DeBlasio from Brooklyn, Council

         22  Member Robert Jackson from Manhattan, Council Member

         23  Eva Moskowitz from Manhattan, and on my immediate

         24  right is our distinguished Counsel of the Finance

         25  Committee, Jim Caras, and walking in right now, is
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          2  Council Member Christine Quinn from Manhattan.

          3                 Assemblyman Gottfried.

          4                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Thank you,

          5  good morning.  It is good to see so many friendly

          6  faces.  I am Assembly Member Richard Gottfried.  I

          7  represent the Chelsea, Clinton, Midtown, and Murray

          8  Hill neighborhoods and part of the Upper West Side.

          9                 My district includes or adjoins the

         10  following Business Improvement Districts, in on

         11  particular order:  14th Street/Union Square, Bryant

         12  Park, 47th Street, Fashion Center, Grand Central

         13  Partnership, Fifth Avenue Association, Lincoln

         14  Square, 34th Street Partnership, and Times Square.

         15                 I am here to support and applaud the

         16  proposal to authorize an increase in the amount to

         17  be raised and expended by the Business Improvement

         18  Districts.

         19                 BIDs have proven to be valuable

         20  additions to the City, improving the quality of life

         21  in their communities.  They improve security,

         22  sanitation, and human services.  They provide

         23  beautification programs.  They carry out merchant

         24  promotions and social events that increase

         25  visibility for businesses that might otherwise not
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          2  have the means to do it themselves.  Some BIDs

          3  provide technical and business development services.

          4

          5                 The benefits go beyond the BIDs'

          6  local areas and local property owners, businesses,

          7  workers and visitors.  The whole city benefits.

          8                 It is important that the BIDs, it is

          9  appropriate rather, that the BIDs want to continue

         10  and expand their work and get assessment increases

         11  to do so.  Many BIDs have been unable to serve their

         12  districts as well as they could because of a lack of

         13  funding.  Increases in assessments should be allowed

         14  for the BIDs to accomplish their goals.  However, it

         15  is important that the amount of the increase reflect

         16  the ability to pay of the businesses involved.

         17                 BIDs have been good for New York City

         18  and deserve our support.

         19                 I want to add a point, when BIDs were

         20  first being developed in this city, I shared the

         21  concern of many that they might become a vehicle for

         22  letting strong and more prosperous business areas

         23  take care of themselves and diminish the pressure on

         24  the city to provide an adequate level of service

         25  city- wide.  I think that was a valid concern, but I
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          2  do not think that has happened.  I think it is

          3  important that the City Council, and the City

          4  Administration not let the existence of BIDs, in

          5  some areas, become an excuse or the taking away of

          6  the pressure to maintain a city- wide level of City

          7  services.

          8                 Rather, I think it is important that

          9  the City Council and the City Administration see the

         10  BIDs as an opportunity to focus City services and

         11  maintain City services in areas that do not have the

         12  financial capacity that some of the BID areas do.

         13  And that we follow the lead and the example of BIDs,

         14  and follow their model of recognizing the importance

         15  to the City's viability of maintaining a strong

         16  level of public service.

         17                 So again, the existence of BIDs could

         18  become an opportunity for essentially segregating

         19  the City into areas of adequate service and

         20  inadequate service.  I do not think that has

         21  happened, and I am confident that this City Council

         22  will not let that happen.

         23                 And with that, I thank you for

         24  holding this hearing and for giving me this

         25  opportunity to testify.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well on a

          3  personal note, Assemblyman Gottfried, I would like

          4  to thank you for your years of service to the State

          5  and the City, and I certainly recognize your

          6  historical perspective.  I think actually with the

          7  retirement of Assemblyman Eve, does that make you

          8  the senior member of the State Assembly?

          9                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Yes, in

         10  January, assuming I am re- elected, I will be the

         11  senior member of the Assembly, and except for John

         12  Markey, I guess I will be the second senior member

         13  of the State Legislature.  And every State

         14  Legislature in America is junior to John Markey in

         15  service.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well, - -

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  He started at

         18  23, just so everybody knows.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Assemblyman

         20  Gottfried started at 23.

         21                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  I did, not

         22  John Markey, but yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  You could have

         24  said 18, you don't want to give away his age.

         25                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  But you know,
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          2  I think it is an interesting point, and I say this

          3  to a body that is term limited, and I would support

          4  any effort to change that circumstance.  But I think

          5  it is useful not to have a whole legislative body

          6  made up of people, you know, who remember the Grant

          7  Administration.  But I think it is useful to have a

          8  couple of us who go back as far as when BIDs were

          9  being first proposed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well, okay, we

         11  thank you very much for your testimony and for your

         12  historical perspective.

         13                 ASSEMBLYMAN GOTTFRIED:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We have been

         15  joined by a number of my colleagues.  On my

         16  immediate left is our Majority Leader, Joel Rivera

         17  from the Bronx.  Next to him is Council Member Tracy

         18  Boyland from Brooklyn.  Next to her is Council

         19  Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, and next to Mr.

         20  Caras, is Council Member Alan Jennings, my colleague

         21  from Queens.

         22                 We are now going to hear from

         23  representatives from the Department of Business

         24  Services.

         25                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Good morning, Chairman
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          2  Weprin and members of the Finance Committee.  My

          3  name is Andrew Schwartz, Deputy Commissioner for the

          4  Department of Business Services.  I am here today

          5  with Mark Neuhouse, Assistant Commissioner for the

          6  DBS Neighborhood Development Division.  Thank you

          7  for the opportunity to testify today.

          8                 As stated by Commissioner Walsh at

          9  this Committee's August 15th hearing on the

         10  Resolution, DBS fully supports passage of Intro. No.

         11  248, providing for increases in the amount to be

         12  expended by 19 of the City's 44 Business Improvement

         13  Districts, and Intro. No. 249, which provides for

         14  the expansion of boundaries of the MetroTech

         15  Business Improvement District in Brooklyn.

         16                 As required by the Resolution the 19

         17  BIDs arrange for publication of the notice for

         18  today's hearing in a local newspaper in their

         19  district.  The notice specified the time and place

         20  for the hearing, and proposed amount to be expended.

         21    In accordance with this Committee's direction, and

         22  as an additional outreach measure, these BIDs have

         23  also certified to DBS that they have done an

         24  additional mailing to their districts summarizing

         25  the Resolution.
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          2                 As you noted, one BID, Brighten Beach

          3  has not done the publication, and we will look to

          4  resubmit their proposal at a later time.

          5                 These 19 BIDs are requesting

          6  increases of annual expenditures in order to further

          7  expend, reinforce, and strengthen their existing

          8  services.  As you may be aware, most BIDs have not

          9  increased their annual assessments since at least

         10  1996 while operational costs have continued to

         11  increase.  In fact, six of these BIDs have not

         12  increased their assessment since they were first

         13  established.  Accordingly, many BIDs are unable to

         14  introduce new planning and program initiatives, and

         15  some have had to curtail levels of services.

         16                 The amount sought and percentages

         17  vary as the goals of each BID differ, and each

         18  request has been reviewed by DBS in terms of the

         19  rationale.  The amounts allow the BIDs to continue

         20  to serve their districts and provide improved

         21  quality of life and economic activity.  And we have

         22  certified that these are also in compliance with the

         23  State's tax and debt limits.

         24                 On Intro. No. 249 in MetroTech, the

         25  BID has been a vital part of the Renaissance of this
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          2  area.  The BIDs Board and Executive Director,

          3  Michael Weiss, have exhibited outstanding leadership

          4  in community relations within the district.  It is

          5  an ongoing story of revitalization, as evidenced by

          6  ongoing construction of several new buildings.

          7                 This bill provides for the addition

          8  of one property the Renaissance Plaza to the BID.

          9  It is home to the award winning Marriott Hotel and

         10  nearly one million square feet of class A office

         11  space.  The owners fully support the inclusion of

         12  other property, and it has been approved by

         13  Community Board #2 and the City Planning Commission

         14  as well.

         15                 We are grateful for the support that

         16  you have shown to the Business Improvement District

         17  Program, and the BIDs within your districts.  Your

         18  approval of these bills will provide support to

         19  communities throughout the City.

         20                 And I am happy to answer any

         21  questions you have.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  I

         23  will turn it over to my colleagues first, if they

         24  have a couple of questions. Council Member Sears.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Good morning
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          2  and thank you. Just a question, with the increase of

          3  the BIDs, do they all go before the local Community

          4  Boards?  Because I am a little confused on that,

          5  requesting the increase.  Do they submit what they

          6  are doing for you to the Community Boards?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  The

          8  Community Boards are all represented on the BID

          9  Boards.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, that I

         11  know.  Okay, and that is enough to have their

         12  representative and not go before the full Community

         13  Board?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  Right,

         15  the outreach is made directly from the BIDs to the

         16  property owners, to the public notice and the

         17  mailing that we did this year.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, and when

         19  these increases come before you, do you review

         20  whether they are really sufficient enough?  Because

         21  I know there is always a hesitancy on the part of

         22  BIDs to increase, and they really look at their

         23  communities, the merchants and the property owners.

         24  Sometimes it is very necessary to increase a little

         25  bit more than what I see for some of these local
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          2  BIDs.  Because the contracts go up, depending on the

          3  services that they have put forth within their

          4  budget, I think there are times when they are not

          5  sufficient.  Which means, and when they get that

          6  increase, they have it for just a, you know, for

          7  some time, as you stated, some have not increased

          8  ever since they started, and I really wonder about

          9  that.  Because if they have any kind of additional

         10  services, those contracts have gone up, which means

         11  they have had to reduce some things.  So I just

         12  wondered if you look at that aspect of it, when 19

         13  come before you.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  Well,

         15  first I would like to thank you for your

         16  encouragement, on behalf of the program. We do work

         17  with the districts to help them think about how they

         18  might plan for services and programs.  And we

         19  certainly encourage the BIDs, the property owners

         20  that are members of the BIDs and the boards to

         21  consider whatever level of assessment that they

         22  would like to undertake, but ultimately, the

         23  decision rests with the Business Improvement

         24  Districts and the Boards, themselves.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, thank
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          2  you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I believe

          4  Council Member Brewer has a question or a statement.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  It was a

          6  statement.  Just to say that I only have one BID in

          7  my district here today, and that is Lincoln Square.

          8  And I do support it, and for a very specific reason

          9  in terms of my experience since January.  I always

         10  new BIDs, and obviously, have worked in the Council

         11  before.  But in addition to the sanitation and the

         12  safety and the beautification of some of the small

         13  business opportunities that the BID grants, I think

         14  what is particularly helpful to me is the work that

         15  this BID has done with the local high school, Martin

         16  Luther King Junior High School. And again, I am not

         17  familiar with all BIDs, so I do not know, except for

         18  the great Mr. Walsh, who turned around Washington

         19  Irving, I will never forget that, and I watched him

         20  do it.  The King experience is similar, and that is

         21  what is most important to me.  I am not sure that

         22  somebody else could have come in and done that so

         23  effectively as Monica has done.  But it also

         24  provides a vehicle for coordination, because if you

         25  are going to improve the schools you need
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          2  coordination in the community.  And I am, obviously,

          3  supportive of the work that is done with the small

          4  businesses, but my focus has always been on

          5  education.

          6                 And so, if you are going to

          7  accomplish both, here you are managing to really

          8  turn around a high school, at the same time work

          9  with the local community.  And I hope that we can

         10  urge all BIDs to take on some kind of challenge like

         11  that, and that should not be part of the

         12  legislation, but should be strongly encouraged.

         13                 And the second issue, of course, is

         14  that in a city that has such difficulty in terms of

         15  coordination, I think that the BIDs with the

         16  Community Boards provide that vehicle.  We have,

         17  obviously, on the West Side large buildings, small

         18  buildings, not necessarily the huge challenge in

         19  terms of economic development, but big challenge in

         20  terms of some of the smaller businesses and also

         21  bringing people, tourists and so on to shop locally,

         22  and that is what the BID has been so successful in

         23  doing.  And obviously, they need the opportunity to

         24  do more.

         25                 One is always concerned about the
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          2  commercial tenants making sure that the pass along

          3  is not something that is burdensome.  And I actually

          4  have done little research, and in this case, it does

          5  not seem to be.  But that is always, I know that the

          6  Chairman mentioned that as a concern.

          7                 So I certainly support the great work

          8  that Monica and her staff and Board are doing,

          9  particularly because of her work in Martin Luther

         10  King High School.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  We

         13  have also been joined by a few more of our

         14  colleagues, it looks like three distinguished

         15  members from Brooklyn, and I will just do it in the

         16  order of appearance that I saw, Council Member Lew

         17  Fidler, Council Member Domenic Recchia, and Council

         18  Member Martin Golden.

         19                 Some of these increases, as far of

         20  their percentage of the budgets, in particularly

         21  some of the smaller budgets are very large

         22  percentages of the overall budget.  Does DBS feel

         23  comfortable that all of these increases are

         24  necessary to allow the BIDs to continue providing

         25  the services that they provide to local businesses,
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          2  or is the percentage of the increases, vis- a- vis,

          3  their overall budget consideration or a concern?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  I

          5  think one thing to consider when evaluating the

          6  level of increase or the percentage of increase is

          7  the relative level of growth in economic activity

          8  that you see in some of the districts.  So, and

          9  gladly in some of the smaller districts, you have

         10  seen a lot more development, real estate

         11  development, as well as more commercial activity.

         12  And so that tends to warrant a greater level of

         13  service, you have more pedestrian traffic, and the

         14  core services and sanitation and public safety and

         15  community outreach need to go up.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, thank you.

         17    Council Member Quinn, did you have a question?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  The structure

         19  for BIDs, I just wanted to make sure that this is

         20  true, across the board, as came out with Council

         21  Member Sears, the Community Board sits on the

         22  overall Board, and also, is it true, on the Finance

         23  Committee who addresses the issues that are before

         24  us today, such as the increase?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  I am
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          2  sorry, that the Community Board representative would

          3  be on the - -

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Finance

          5  Committee.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ: - -

          7  Finance Committee of the Business Improvement

          8  District Board?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Correct.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  I do

         11  not think that is a requirement, no.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  It is not a

         13  requirement.  So that is just some Boards.  I know

         14  that most of the Boards in my area and some of the

         15  ones that are abutted, like Grand Central and

         16  others, have that protocol, but that is not across

         17  the board one.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  That

         19  is right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Okay.  And

         21  does some of the BIDs in the area that I represent

         22  also provide social services, and have, you know, a

         23  fairly large outreach programs, et cetera, to

         24  homeless populations and other need.  Could you just

         25  tell us a little bit about, is that a standard or is
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          2  that a BID by BID kind of a decision?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  Again,

          4  that would be a case- by- case decision.  But I

          5  think you do find that when you have a Business

          6  Improvement District in place, the great thing about

          7  them is that people often go above and beyond what

          8  the district plan might have called for originally,

          9  and that is where you see things like the Martin

         10  Luther King Program and others coming about.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And also, the

         12  Council members sit on the Boards, as well.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  That

         14  is correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So, I mean,

         16  and we have had great, I will say, I have 42nd,

         17  34th, a little bit of Grand Central, the Fashion,

         18  47th Street, part of 8th Street, a little bit of

         19  14th Street so, and 23rd is now looking.  So it is

         20  hard to find a street I do not have that does not

         21  have a BID on it.  But, I will say, and my colleague

         22  commented, obviously, on the BIDs, in my district

         23  they do a terrific job and they are always very

         24  willing not just to hear my office's feedback on

         25  what they do, but we are constantly coming up with
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          2  new things for them to do, you know, and it is

          3  almost always above and beyond what was ever really

          4  envisioned for them to do, and they are always

          5  enormously helpful. And that process right now, we

          6  have 42nd Street helping us figure out how to

          7  deliver better services to a single- room occupancy

          8  hotel facility on 48th Street.  So, and they are,

          9  they do not know it, but they are soon going to be

         10  helping Midtown South figure out how to do better

         11  homeless outreach also.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  Take

         13  notes 42nd Street.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Exactly.  You

         15  know I applaud the ones in my district, and I am

         16  sure this is true City- wide for doing a great job

         17  and always being there to be technical advisors and

         18  help, to my office, as we face ever growing, unique

         19  and challenging problems.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  That

         21  is great.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We have been

         23  joined by an additional colleague, Council Member

         24  Dennis Gallagher of Queens, welcome.  Any further

         25  questions?  Thank you.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:

          3  Chairman, thank you very much, and Council Members

          4  Brewer and Quinn, for your comments about the BID

          5  Program.

          6                 I should note Commissioner Walsh is

          7  in Charlotte for a 9/11 commemoration event,

          8  otherwise he would have been here in person.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, we

         10  appreciate that.  He has appeared before us a number

         11  of times, and he is usually very accessible.

         12                 Before you leave, could you just, I

         13  do not believe we sufficiently explored the

         14  MetroTech Extension.  Could you just briefly

         15  elaborate a little bit on that?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  As we

         17  indicated, it is an inclusion of one additional

         18  property, the Renaissance Plaza into the District.

         19  They have gone through the public hearing process at

         20  the Community Board level and through the City

         21  Planning Commission, and then the next step was to

         22  take it here to the Council.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And all the

         24  notices went out on that?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, thank you.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHWARTZ:  Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Our next witness

          6  will be Mr. Moshe Adler from the Fiscal Policy

          7  Institute.  Do you have a prepared statement, Mr.

          8  Adler?  That is being passed out.  Mr. Adler, the

          9  light has to be off, in order for it to be on.  It

         10  is a City Council thing.

         11                 MR. ADLER:  Good morning.  My name is

         12  Moshe Adler. I am a Senior Economist for the Fiscal

         13  Policy Institute.  At this time of worsening budget

         14  gaps and service cuts the proposed law before you,

         15  to increase the budgets of 20 BIDs by anywhere from

         16  10 percent to 47 percent carries a very reassuring

         17  message.  It is important to know that landlords and

         18  the commercial tenants believe that increasing the

         19  amount and quality of city services is preferable to

         20  cutting city services, even if the increases involve

         21  higher taxes.  It is also very important to know

         22  that the Mayor endorses this message, since he is

         23  the one who has proposed the law before you.  We

         24  believe that this message is correct.

         25                 The city faces a $4.5 billion gap in
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          2  next year's budget.  The Mayor and the City Council

          3  will have to balance the budget without making the

          4  ongoing recession worse.  The Mayor is obviously

          5  agreeing with Nobel prize- winning economist Joseph

          6  Stiglitz who argued that, in a recession, cuts in

          7  public services are more harmful to the local

          8  economy than increasing taxes on high- income

          9  households.  This is because a dollar in service

         10  cuts drains more spending from the local economy

         11  than a dollar increase in taxes does.  In fact, our

         12  own research, that I am enclosing with testimony,

         13  shows that the fear that higher taxes cost jobs is

         14  not supported by New York City's historical

         15  experience.

         16                 Let me repeat that we believe that

         17  the message is correct.  But we do not believe that

         18  a City in which a few select neighborhoods

         19  experience an improvement in the quality of services

         20  they get while the rest of the City sees a

         21  deterioration of these services, is a good city.  We

         22  do not believe that a city in which a few of the few

         23  select neighborhoods see an increase in their BIDs

         24  budgets of 35 percent or more, while the rest of the

         25  select neighborhoods see an increase of only 10
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          2  percent, is a good city. In fact, we believe that

          3  this is sure path for the creation of two cities.

          4  This is why we recommend that you work instead to

          5  protect and improve the quality of life for all New

          6  Yorkers, and not just a few.

          7                 The myth of the BIDs is that while

          8  they add services in some neighborhoods they detract

          9  nothing from the rest of the city.  The creation of

         10  a BID requires a political initiative on the part of

         11  landlords and business leaders.  Thus, what the BIDs

         12  do is redirect the positive energy of civic minded

         13  leaders from a concern with the well being of the

         14  city at large, to concern with their own individual

         15  neighborhoods.  When key neighborhoods are clean and

         16  safe, the political pressure on the city to provide

         17  clean and safe street everywhere is greatly reduced.

         18    When business leaders see that they can bring the

         19  quality of services in their own neighborhoods up

         20  while their city taxes go down, why would they ever

         21  support general tax increases?

         22                 We have also seen that BIDs have been

         23  used to degrade labor standards.  Many workers

         24  employed by BIDs work for the minimum wage, $5.15 an

         25  hour, with no benefits.  City sanitation workers
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          2  doing similar jobs start at $13 and get full health

          3  and pension benefits, giving them a chance to

          4  support their families. Data from the 2000 Census

          5  shows that over the last decade median family income

          6  in New York City decreased while the poverty rate

          7  increased.  Our analysis shows that one of the main

          8  reasons for this negative development is that all

          9  levels of government together cut their workforce by

         10  almost 57,000 jobs, and the city took other actions

         11  that lowered labor standards.  Clearly, cost-

         12  cutting at the expense of decent wages and benefits

         13  is not efficient or cost saving in the larger sense

         14  at all.  Workers making sub- standard wages cannot

         15  make ends meet and end up turning to government for

         16  benefits.

         17                 We strongly recommend that the BIDs

         18  be required to pay their workers a living wage.

         19  This wage, $8.10 an hour with health benefits, or

         20  $9.60 if health benefits are not provided, cannot be

         21  onerous for BIDs, or if it is, they clearly should

         22  not be in the business of providing public services.

         23                 Two studies by the staff of the City

         24  Council Finance Committee, your staff, "Cities

         25  within Cities" (1995), and "Managing the Micropolis"
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          2  (1997) revealed that only a minority of commercial

          3  tenants support the BIDs.  We recommend that you

          4  instruct your staff to revisit the issue and, most

          5  importantly, investigate the impact of BIDs on the

          6  quality and quantity of city- wide public services

          7  in New York City.

          8                 We believe that the law before you is

          9  an opportunity to examine the merits of the BIDs.

         10                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         11  appear before you today.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

         13  Adler.  We have been joined by another colleague of

         14  ours, Council Member Madeline Provenzano from the

         15  Bronx, welcome.

         16                 I believe Council Member Jennings had

         17  a question, could you just wait a minute.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Good

         19  morning, Mr. Adler. Do you really understand what a

         20  BID does?

         21                 MR. ADLER:  I am sorry?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Do you

         23  really understand what a BID does?

         24                 MR. ADLER:  I think I do, I actually

         25  studied the BIDs at great length and published some
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          2  articles about it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Let's say,

          4  for example, I know that you talked about possibly

          5  the two different cities, I am not sure that if you

          6  quite understand this topic.  For example, say if

          7  you know, and you said for yourself, the City faces

          8  a $4.5 billion budget gap, and say, for example, a

          9  given street, say, let's say, Murray Street, for

         10  example.  You are familiar with Murray Street.

         11                 MR. ADLER:  Somewhat.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Okay, say

         13  between Broadway and West Broadway.  Currently,

         14  there is no BID there.  But if you walk in the

         15  street, you look on the floor you see black dots of

         16  gum, you see that a lot, right?

         17                 MR. ADLER:  I see that a lot.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Do you

         19  think the City could afford to buy gum machines and

         20  go on every street and remove that gum off the

         21  floor?

         22                 MR. ADLER:  I think that is

         23  absolutely mandatory. I mean I think that we cannot

         24  have a city in which some, in which in some

         25  neighborhoods that there are some people with great
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          2  initiative and the know how to organize the

          3  community into taxing itself, and those

          4  neighborhoods will have no gum.  And other

          5  neighborhoods in which this does not happen, have

          6  gum.  As a matter of fact, my office is just at the

          7  border between the Fashion District, we are just

          8  south of the Fashion District, and if you come to my

          9  neighborhood at one o'clock in the afternoon, all

         10  the garbage cans are overflowing, which is, of

         11  course, not the case in the Fashion District.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  You live in

         13  a residential street or on a commercial street.

         14                 MR. ADLER:  No, I work on a

         15  commercial street.  I think that there is no doubt

         16  that you all do not want gum and it requires money.

         17  And as we see here, people are willing to pay higher

         18  taxes to have better services.  But what is true for

         19  these few neighborhoods, surely is for the rest of

         20  the City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Well the

         22  thing with every street has an opportunity to self

         23  impose a tax.  I mean, that is the good thing about

         24  being an American by being in the city that, at

         25  least, in this areas, people, if they want to self
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          2  impose a tax on themselves, they can.  If they do

          3  not want to, they just choose not to.  I mean there

          4  is no street, for example, Murray Street, if the

          5  property owners want to do something better by

          6  improving the street by removing all the gum, or

          7  say, for example, Nassau County. Have you visited

          8  Nassau County?

          9                 MR. ADLER:  I think that - -

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Let me just

         11  ask, have you ever visited Nassau County?

         12                 MR. ADLER:  No.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  No?  Or if

         14  you go through other counties in New York City or

         15  throughout New York State, you find where all the

         16  signage on the street is similar, and the place is

         17  beautiful.  And you go to those other places,

         18  everyone has, because of the business cannot afford

         19  to put up new signs, or people choose to put up ugly

         20  signs, that it is a distraction to the area.  So, a

         21  BID, if they want to, they can choose to help the

         22  business, the merchants purchase signs to help

         23  beautify the area. And you know, in times where we

         24  see we cannot afford sanitation as we would like, of

         25  course, the City should pick up garbage that is
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          2  overflowing, but in a lot of areas you have a lot of

          3  heavy traffic. And if a community or property owners

          4  and businesses would like to see their street clean

          5  and no bright hard gums on the floor, and have, and

          6  save themselves from being taxed every day by the

          7  environmental agents.  Because you know when the

          8  city, when the environmental sanitation is not

          9  coming and write you a summons for not cleaning the

         10  garbage in front of your store, that is like a tax,

         11  right?  So, at least, if a BID would come together

         12  and they decide to clean their own streets, it may

         13  even save them money from being arbitrarily taxed by

         14  some environmental protection agent.

         15                 MR. ADLER:  I am not objecting to

         16  having clean streets and people cleaning the

         17  streets.  I am just objecting to having different

         18  services in different spots of the City.  When you

         19  go and see a filthy neighborhood in the City, your

         20  conclusion is that this people chose to live in

         21  filth and pay lower taxes. Whereas in another

         22  neighborhood they chose to live in a clean street

         23  and pay higher taxes.  But that is not the way I see

         24  it at all.

         25                 The difference that I see between the
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          2  two type neighborhoods, is that some neighborhoods

          3  are poorer than others, and therefore, people cannot

          4  pay these higher taxes.  And the whole idea of

          5  having a City is precisely of having equal services

          6  in different places regardless of how much people

          7  are willing and able to pay.  And regardless of how

          8  able and willing they are to organize themselves.

          9  We need a City that is clean everywhere, not only in

         10  the places in which people can afford to pay for it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Isn't it a

         12  good thing if, since this tax is optional that we do

         13  not - -

         14                 MR. ADLER:  This tax is not optional.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS: - -  impose

         16  taxes on someone who cannot afford it and they lose

         17  their property.  At least, they are volunteering to

         18  do so.

         19                 MR. ADLER:  I think it is wrong to,

         20  what about schools, do you suggest that

         21  neighborhoods pay for their own schools?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  No, because

         23  those are separate.

         24                 MR. ADLER:  What is the difference?

         25  We have a city in which everybody should be
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          2  permitted to have the same level of services.  And

          3  not every street taxing itself and providing itself

          4  is a different level of services.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Okay, thank

          6  you, Mr. Adler.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, Council

          8  Member Sears.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.  I don't, I am changing my question to a

         11  comment, but maybe it is both.  One of the major

         12  purposes of a BID is to equalize the responsibility

         13  of the merchants and the property owners.  And it is

         14  not to, and it augments what the City does, it does

         15  not replace what it does.

         16                 I would interpret from your testimony

         17  that you are implying that merchants and property

         18  owners do not have that kind of responsibility to

         19  communities that work very hard to keep them in the

         20  way that you are talking about.  One of the things

         21  the BID does, is that it does not keep one merchant

         22  or one property owner from sharing in the

         23  responsibility of that commercial area, whether it

         24  be the supplement of sanitation services as you

         25  cited earlier. Whether it be the amenities that go
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          2  into the areas that the City has never been

          3  empowered to do, or have the money to do, and the

          4  BIDs do that.  And it also shares the responsibility

          5  when communities choose to have holiday lights at

          6  any time.  And I can tell you that there are

          7  merchants and property owners that have never cared

          8  to share in a community responsibility.

          9                 So I think that your attitude towards

         10  BIDs should be reviewed, because one of the only,

         11  the only way that communities can work with the

         12  City, and the City work with the communities, is

         13  when they take the local initiative to do what they

         14  have to do in order to maintain that community.  And

         15  remember BIDs are the property owners, they are the

         16  merchants, and they are communities. The communities

         17  all come together, and they have to vote on this

         18  BID, just as they do when they are increasing the

         19  budget.  And when communities accept this, I really

         20  find your attitude very irresponsible.  And excuse

         21  me, Mr. Chairman, but I really had to say that.

         22                 MR. ADLER:  But surely I should be

         23  able to respond to that?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, briefly,

         25  if you could respond.
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          2                 MR. ADLER:  There are two issues

          3  here, one, side by side.  First of all, to claim

          4  that the BIDs do not distract from anything that

          5  happens in the City at this moment in time, seems to

          6  me a bit hard to defend, because we have budget cuts

          7  on the table for the City at large, while we have

          8  budget increases for street cleaning in BIDs.  And

          9  obviously, when you have all this nice neighborhoods

         10  increasing their budgets, that means that it is

         11  easier for the City Council and the Mayor to cut

         12  services elsewhere.

         13                 In terms of, I think that it is

         14  laudable that BIDs are cleaning themselves, and I am

         15  not sure where my irresponsibility is.  Is it

         16  because I claimed that the whole City should be

         17  clean, that the whole City should be beautified,

         18  that the whole City should have nice lights?  This

         19  is precisely, what is the issue?  I mean the issue

         20  is, if you can pay for it, you will have it, and if

         21  you cannot pay for it, you will not have it.  And

         22  this is not the way to have one City, this is

         23  precisely a way to have two cities.  And this is

         24  really the issue before us.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, I do not
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          2  want to get into a philosophical debate.  We

          3  appreciate your testimony, Mr. Adler. We have a

          4  number of other witnesses to testify here.

          5                 MR. ADLER:  Thank you very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  You are quite

          7  welcome.  I am now going to hear from two witnesses

          8  together on behalf of MetroTech, Michael Weiss and

          9  Mark Lane.

         10                 MR. WEISS:  Good morning, Chairman

         11  Weprin and honorable members of the City Council.

         12  Thank you for permitting us to testify this morning.

         13    My name is Mike Weiss.  I am the Executive

         14  Director of the MetroTech Business Improvement

         15  District. And I am joined by Father Mark Lane, who

         16  is the Pastor of Saint Boniface Church, one of our

         17  stalwart members.

         18                 The MetroTech BID began operations in

         19  1992 in a 25 square block area of Downtown Brooklyn.

         20    As you are all aware, the one billion dollar

         21  MetroTech Development has been one of the most

         22  successful public/private partnerships in the

         23  nation, with over 20,000 new workers and in excess

         24  of over six million square feet of class A new

         25  office space built in the last 12 years.
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          2                 The formation and operation of a BID

          3  was one of the keys to guaranteeing an extremely

          4  high level of basic services, in addition to what

          5  the City provides, to the existing and emerging

          6  business community.  When the BID was formed, the

          7  Renaissance Plaza Development site, including the

          8  Marriott Hotel was not in construction.  The

          9  developer sat in on all the initial planning

         10  meetings for the BID and agreed to the basic

         11  principles established.

         12                 However, since the construction

         13  schedule was not clear, it was recommended that this

         14  building not be included until such time the

         15  structure was completed.  Now the Renaissance Plaza

         16  is fully operational, and by the way, very

         17  successful, we are coming to you with a request to

         18  approve an amendment to our District Plan that would

         19  include this site as well as the entire BID of Adam

         20  Street both east and west sides to the existing BID.

         21                 The BID Board has voted unanimously

         22  to utilize approximately one- third of the funds

         23  generated by Renaissance Plaza to reduce the

         24  assessments of the commercial and residential

         25  property owners in the District.  Another one- third
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          2  of the new assessment funds would provide increased

          3  services, such as public safety, cleaning and

          4  maintenance of the Adam Street Planting Mall, all

          5  directly in support of the Renaissance Plaza

          6  Development.  And the final one- third would be used

          7  for increased marketing and promotion for a business

          8  community in Downtown Brooklyn, as well as selected

          9  special events to encourage and extend their use of

         10  Downtown Brooklyn.

         11                 Thus, we feel this is an elegant plan

         12  that would allow the BID to strengthen its programs

         13  to utilize Downtown Brooklyn as an important

         14  resource in the City's five- borough strategy for

         15  retaining business and rebuilding in the aftermath

         16  of the September 11th attack.

         17                 The Chairman referred to the four

         18  questions that are criteria that we would need to

         19  meet.  I know that  - -

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I am glad that

         21  you were paying attention.

         22                 MR. WEISS:  There was a different

         23  four questions that I know about in connection with

         24  Passover.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  The wrong time
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          2  of year.

          3                 MR. WEISS:  And those four questions

          4  are a little more important as your four questions,

          5  but I think we will be able to meet that test.  And

          6  so we ask for your expeditious and positive review

          7  of this item.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         10                 MR. WEISS:  Father Mark.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Father Lane.

         12                 FATHER LANE:  Good morning, thank you

         13  for the opportunity to speak in support of the

         14  MetroTech BID.  I have been a resident in Downtown

         15  Brooklyn for about 12 years.  I know this accent

         16  sounds like I come from South Brooklyn, very, very

         17  South Brooklyn, but coming from Australia, one of my

         18  family's concerns was my safety.  And, you know, I

         19  got my badge of citizenship very quickly after

         20  coming to Downtown Brooklyn, one day putting the key

         21  into the rectory door, and being mugged as many of

         22  the parishioners of our little establishment were

         23  harassed in those early days.

         24                 And I wanted to come and support

         25  because there has been a tremendous improvement in
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          2  that area in Downtown Brooklyn. And I think it is a

          3  uniquely, wonderful thing that has happened there,

          4  that the BID, although, it is business improvement,

          5  and that kind of notes commercial enterprise, and

          6  therefore, its primary interest, there has been a

          7  wonderful outreach to the local community.  And as

          8  someone in the position, I think to assess some of

          9  that, I wanted to be supportive of its efforts, and

         10  to encourage that sort of development and

         11  improvement that recognizes that business is more

         12  than just a commercial enterprise.  And I think in

         13  the MetroTech area there has been a wonderful

         14  consideration of the local community, residents,

         15  like ourselves, schools and religious and cultural

         16  institutions.

         17                 And Michael Weiss and the BID there

         18  have done a wonderful opportunity to reach out to us

         19  and to make sure that our concerns were addressed.

         20  And I look forward to encouraging and supporting

         21  that continued development in the Downtown Brooklyn

         22  area.

         23                 Thanks for the opportunity to speak

         24  in support of the amendment.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,
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          2  Father.  Any questions from my colleagues?  If not,

          3  thank you very much.

          4                 Next we will hear from our final

          5  scheduled speaker, David Cohen from Duffy Square

          6  Associates.

          7                 MR. COHEN:  Thank you for giving me

          8  this opportunity to speak.  I am here in support of

          9  the BID in Times Square, and I represent, I am a

         10  building owner, and I represent some of the other

         11  building owners and merchants.

         12                 However, we have had quite a big

         13  problem in Times Square, and the BID has been on our

         14  side, and that is something that has started called,

         15  Street Fairs.  They are constantly having Street

         16  Fairs in Times Square.  The whole concept of the

         17  Street Fair was to bring people to sections of the

         18  City, like 9th Avenue, et cetera, various sections

         19  of 3rd Avenue in the Bronx, to bring business there.

         20    Times Square does not need Street Fairs.  It has

         21  been very difficult and impossible to speak to

         22  anybody in the Administration, while they say that

         23  they are just doing what was done last year.  The

         24  strain on the budget of the BID and the storekeepers

         25  and the businesses, every weekend this summer we
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          2  have had Street Fairs on Times Square.  They are

          3  definitely not necessary, they bring people to the

          4  section.  And it keeps being expanded.

          5                 I have spoken to the Commissioner,

          6  and he says, well, they inherited it.  And it have

          7  been a big, and incidently, these Street Fairs are

          8  for organizations that do not fit into the criteria

          9  that is set out by the Community Board, such as,

         10  they are not 501- C groups.  We have here New York

         11  Republican Street Fair, we have just manufactured

         12  names, none of which even have telephone numbers.  I

         13  do not understand how the City is giving Street Fair

         14  permits to operate.  And incidentally, they do not

         15  only operate in Times Square, they run from 45th

         16  Street all the way to 57th Street.

         17                 The businesses in that area, that day

         18  when they do it, cuts right in half, all their

         19  sales.  They operate, they bring in operators from

         20  outside the area to sell what merchants are selling

         21  there.  We have, maybe because it is a new

         22  Administration, but we reached a deadlock with the

         23  Administration, we do not know what to do, who to

         24  talk to, and to get answers to this.  The BID had

         25  been very, very helpful, but they dealt out of the
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          2  situation, also.  We get a notice one day before

          3  that there is a Street Fair, and which you cannot do

          4  nothing about.  We cannot reach anybody in the

          5  Administration, and the person who gives out these

          6  permits cannot even be reached by telephone, you get

          7  a machine.

          8                 It is totally frustrating, and the

          9  BID has been very helpful, and of course, we are, as

         10  property owners, we are in support of any increases

         11  that you can do, and maybe it would be very helpful.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

         14  Cohen.  Any questions from my colleagues?  Okay, is

         15  there anyone in the audience that wants to speak in

         16  opposition to any of the BID increases or to the

         17  MetroTech BID extension, which we are not voting on

         18  today?  If not, we will proceed to a vote on the 19

         19  BID increases, and we will wait until the running of

         20  the 30- day objection period on the MetroTech

         21  expansion, which will probably be some time in

         22  October.

         23                 Council Member DeBlasio, we need you

         24  for a quorum. Okay, can we call the roll.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Weprin.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Boyland.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Provenzano.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Quinn.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Rivera.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  DeBlasio.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DEBLASIO:  Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Jennings.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JENNINGS:  Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sears.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  With pleasure,

         17  aye.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gallagher.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Mr.

         20  Chairman, may I be excused to explain my vote?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Yes, you may.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  I will be

         23  voting aye on this, but I just wanted to welcome to

         24  the Council Chambers, Himan Hartberg the Chairman,

         25  and Theodore Reinz the Executive Director of the
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          2  Mytle Avenue Business Improvement District, who in

          3  sending out a mailing and having a vote, every

          4  property owner, there was not one person that

          5  opposed this, this increase and this user fee.  So,

          6  I gladly vote aye, and welcome them to City Hall

          7  today.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Welcome, Mytle

          9  Avenue.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Golden.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:  Outstanding,

         12  I vote aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 10 in

         14  the affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no

         15  abstentions, the item is adopted, the vote will

         16  remain open.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We will keep it

         18  open for a number of our colleagues that were here,

         19  but had to step out.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Oh,

         21  perfect timing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Eva, do you want

         23  to vote?

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         25  Moskowitz, how do you vote on proposed Intro. 248-
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          2  A?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  I vote

          4  aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The vote now stands

          6  11 in the affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no

          7  abstentions.

          8                 Council Member Comrie, how do you

          9  vote on 248- A?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Council

         11  Member Comrie votes aye on all.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Councilman

         13  Fidler, aye.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         15  Jackson, how do you vote on 248- A?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  They vote now stands

         18  14 in the affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no

         19  abstentions.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 12:05 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT WTULICH, a Notary Public in

         10  and for the State of New York, do hereby certify

         11  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         12  of the within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 12th day of September 2002.
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          9            I, PAT WTULICH, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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